ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN - 8 2017

Certiorari to Charleston County
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RYAN P. DELESTON,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001103

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RYAN P. DELESTON,

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial court's refusal to allow Petitioner to cross-examine witnesses about an armed robbery and shooting that occurred approximately two weeks before the murder, where it was undisputed that Bryan Rivers was the shooter in the prior robbery and that the same firearm was used in both cases, since this prevented Petitioner from fully presenting his defense at trial, namely that Rivers was the shooter who killed the decedent, Marley Lion, and that Petitioner was merely present at the scene, in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE, the rule on third party guilt, and Petitioner's due process right to present a complete defense?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court's opening instruction to the jury that a trial was "a search for the truth in an effort to make sure that justice is done" was not reversible error when this instruction was fundamentally incorrect and misdirected the jury's inquiry from the beginning of the trial forward from the correct legal question of whether the state had proved Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the October 2012 term of General Sessions for murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and at the December 2012 term for possession of a handgun with an obliterated serial number. R. 924-931. His case was called to trial on October 7, 2013 before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, and a jury. R. 1. Solicitor Scarlett A. Wilson and Assistant Solicitor Bruce DuRant represented the state, and D. Ashley Pennington and John J. Kozelski represented Petitioner. R. 2.

On October 11, 2013, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. R. 859, l. 23 – 860, l. 17. Judge Harrington sentenced Petitioner to life without parole for murder, twenty years concurrent for attempted armed robbery, and five years concurrent for possession of a handgun with an obliterated serial number. R. 865, ll. 2-16. The court did not impose a sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A) since Petitioner was sentenced to life without parole for the murder offense. R. 865, ll. 13-15; See R. 861, ll. 24 – 862, l. 12.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence on February 10, 2016. State v. Deleston, 2016-UP-055 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed February 10, 2016); App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on February 25, 2016. App. 4-16. The state filed a return on March 14, 2016. App. 17-46. On April 21, 2016, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 47.

On May 23, 2016, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals requesting this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision. On June 29, 2016, the state filed a

return. By order dated December 1, 2016, this Court granted the petition and ordered further briefing pursuant to Rule 242(i), SCACR.

This Brief of Petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Around 9:00 pm on June 15, 2012, the decedent, Marley Lion, picked up Katherine Ridgway from her apartment and drove to a house party. R. 78, l. 7 – 79, l. 1; R. 80, ll. 13-18. The two had just graduated from high school and were casually dating. R. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 6. Katherine and Marley, who were both drinking, stayed at the party until around 3:00 am when Marley drove Katherine home. As he dropped her off, Marley “said he was heading home.” R. 81, l. 7 – 82, l. 7.

Officer Robert Deal of the Charleston Police Department was dispatched to the Ardmore Subdivision in West Ashley at 4:06 am that morning “in reference to possible shots fired in that area.” R. 91, ll. 16-22. While driving through the Ardmore neighborhood, Deal “noticed to the right, in the parking lot of Famous Joe’s, . . . a little white vehicle. And it appeared to have a gentleman laying down on the ground beside the vehicle.” R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 6. Deal went to investigate and see whether the individual needed assistance. R. 97, ll. 6-18. As he approached the man lying on the ground, Deal noticed broken glass nearby. R. 98, ll. 2-3. He asked the man if he was okay and the man responded that “he had been shot five times.” R. 99, ll. 1-4.

The man, later identified as Marley Lion, was coherent and told Deal that “he had pulled in there [the parking lot at Famous Joe’s] to kind of get some sleep, that he had been out that evening, and he felt that he was too intoxicated to drive. So he . . . was just going to sleep a little bit to be safe.” R. 101, ll. 12-18; R. 108, ll. 3-14. According to Deal, Marley said “two black males approached him” and “one was wearing all black, along with blue jeans.” Marley said the black male wearing all black with blue jeans “pulled a gun out that appeared to be all black” and “began to fire at him.” R. 119, l. 9 – 121, l. 6. After the shooting, the men ran “in the direction of the gravel lot,” which is a “cut-through” to the Ardmore Subdivision from Famous Joe’s parking lot. R.

101, l. 2 – 102, l. 2. Marley did not provide a clothing description for the second black male. R. 120, l. 17 – 121, l. 6.

Marley ultimately died of his injuries. The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the chest that damaged his abdominal aorta, spleen, and liver. R. 683, ll. 3-6. Marley also had several gunshot wounds to the left thigh and groin region and a gunshot wound to the right arm. R. 683, l. 11 – 696, l. 21. Five projectiles were recovered from his body during autopsy. R. 699, ll. 6-18.

For several weeks after the shooting, law enforcement had no suspects. The shooting was captured on surveillance footage from several nearby businesses. The footage showed there were no witnesses to the shooting. R. 603, ll. 2-15.

On June 27, 2012, Bobby Warthaw contacted the Charleston Police Department and informed a detective that he heard Petitioner, who lived in Ardmore, was attempting to sell a gun for eighty dollars. R. 503, l. 15 – 505, l. 3. Because of the low price, Warthaw suspected this gun was involved in the shooting of Marley Lion. With the assistance of law enforcement, Warthaw and his cousin, Christopher Singleton, who wore a wire, purchased the gun from Petitioner on July 15, 2012 in Ardmore. R. 506, l. 25 – 513, l. 22; 516, l. 22 – 518, l. 20.

The firearm purchased from Petitioner was sent to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) for testing. R. 634, l. 21 – 635, l. 3. An agent at SLED determined that the six cartridge cases collected from the parking lot at Famous Joe's after the shooting and the five bullets recovered during autopsy were fired by this gun. R. 730, l. 3 – 739, l. 21; R. 635, ll. 4-6.

Petitioner was ultimately arrested on July 30, 2012. Bryan Rivers and Julius Brown, who were additional suspects, were also arrested on that date, but for unrelated charges. R. 635, l. 7 – 638, l. 3. All three gave statements to law enforcement. Based on these statements, George Brown was arrested on August 1, 2012. R. 635, l. 7 – 638, l. 3. All four individuals were eventually

charged with the murder and attempted armed robbery of Marley Lion. R. 167, ll. 12-17; R. 249, ll. 6-7; R. 445, l. 12 – 446, l. 17. Rivers, Julius, and George testified against Petitioner at trial in exchange for favorable plea deals. R. 167, l. 12 – 170, l. 6; R. 255, l. 7 – 256, l. 4; R. 482, l. 21 – 483, l. 9. They each explained the events leading up to the murder.

Julius Brown's sister, Stephanie Brown, was Petitioner's girlfriend. In June 2012, Petitioner and Stephanie lived together on Cashew Street in Ardmore. R. 316, ll. 11-25. On June 15, 2012, Julius, Petitioner, Rayshawn Milligan, Bryan Rivers, and George Brown, who despite the same last name is not related to Julius, were at Petitioner's house on Cashew Street. R. 170, ll. 7-22; R. 257, ll. 15-22; R. 317, ll. 4-10. They were "[d]rinking and smoking marijuana." R. 171, ll. 4-6; See R. 257, ll. 2-7; R. 319, ll. 10-16; R. 451, ll. 10-15.

At some point that night, the group left Petitioner's house and drove to downtown Charleston "[l]ooking for licks" or "[r]obberies." R. 258, ll. 8-14; See R. 172, ll. 20-24; R. 453, ll. 13-21. George drove the group in his black Chevrolet Suburban. R. 171, l. 25 – 172, l. 9; R. 320, ll. 6-16; R. 453, ll. 4-12. The men eventually saw a "white couple" who looked like they had been drinking and decided to rob them. R. 259, ll. 15-23; See R. 175, ll. 1-7. Petitioner and Bryan Rivers, who had George's gun, got out of the car. Rivers walked up to the couple, pointed the gun at them, stole the woman's pocketbook, and ran back to the car. R. 172, l. 4 – 176, l. 2; R. 259, l. 11 – 261, l. 5; R. 457, l. 1 – 458, l. 12. Petitioner, however, never approached the couple, but instead walked in the opposite direction. After Rivers got back into the car, George picked Petitioner up from a nearby McDonald's and the group headed back to West Ashley. R. 176, ll. 3-22; R. 262, l. 19 – 263, l. 17; R. 457, l. 1 – 458, l. 19.

On the way back to West Ashley, Rivers went through the pocketbook and discovered there was no money inside. R. 176, l. 23 – 177, l. 9; R. 263, ll. 18-25; R. 459, ll. 3-6. Because this

robbery had been unsuccessful, the group discussed robbing Famous Joe's, a bar in West Ashley near the Ardmore neighborhood. Before going back to Petitioner's house, George drove through the parking lot at Famous Joe's to determine if the bar was "a good target" and to "[s]cope the scene." R. 177, l. 10-178, l. 15 and R. 264, ll. 1-8; See R. 459, l. 19-460, l. 16.

Once back at Petitioner's house, Julius, Rivers, and Petitioner decided to walk down to Famous Joe's. The men planned to wait for the employees to come out of the bar after it closed and rob them. Julius, Rivers, and Rayshawn Milligan claimed George gave Petitioner his gun before the three left and Petitioner put the gun "[i]nside his pants on his hip." R. 179, l. 6-182, l. 4; See R. 265, l. 22-266, l. 25; R. 326, l. 2-328, l. 8; R. 462, l. 3-463, l. 12. After the short walk, the three stopped behind a white fence and watched the parking lot in front of Famous Joe's. The men eventually saw the employees coming out of the bar. R. 182, l. 13-183, l. 13; R. 267, l. 21-268, l. 11. Petitioner was allegedly about to rob them when Marley Lion pulled into the parking lot and "interrupt[ed]" the robbery.¹ R. 183, l. 24-184, l. 8; See R. 268, l. 14-269, l. 11.

Julius and Rivers claimed that once the employees left, Petitioner said "he [was] going to try to see what Marley Lion had." R. 184, ll. 9-20; See R. 269, ll. 2-17. Julius walked through the parking lot and passed by Marley's car "to scope the scene out" and see "how much people was in the car," but he "couldn't see inside" because the windows were too dark. R. 184, l. 25-187, l. 4 and R. 270, ll. 3-15. After walking by the car, Julius walked back to the white fence where Petitioner and Rivers were waiting. R. 187, ll. 5-13; R. 270, ll. 3-15. According to Julius, Petitioner and Rivers were "discussing who was going to go, passing the gun back and forth, and then Ryan [Petitioner] just decided to go." R. 187, l. 14-188, l. 4. Rivers also claimed Petitioner "tried to pass [him] the gun, but [he] gave it back. [He] pushed it off." R. 270, l. 16-271, l. 5.

¹ Despite referring to Marley Lion by name throughout their testimony, the men did not know who Marley was before this incident. See R. 182, l. 22-183, l. 3 and R. 268, l. 17-269, l. 1.

Julius and Rivers claimed Petitioner approached Marley's car and knocked on the window. The car alarm went off. Both men thought Marley set the alarm off. After the alarm went off, Petitioner ran back towards Julius and Rivers, but Julius told Petitioner to "get him, get him" and "bust the window." R. 188, ll. 10-25 and R. 271, l. 6 – 272, l. 16. Petitioner allegedly went back to the car and began shooting. According to Julius and Rivers, Petitioner shot five or six times. R. 189, ll. 3-7; R. 272, ll. 17-21. After the shooting, all three men took off running back towards Ardmore. As they were running, they "went up behind this white boy named Jason house," and Petitioner allegedly hid the gun "under the pool." After hiding the gun, they ran back to Petitioner's house on Cashew Street. R. 189, l. 8 – 190, l. 21; See R. 273, l. 5 – 274, l. 8.

Julius gave his explanation of the surveillance footage that captured the parking lot in front of Famous Joe's during the early morning hours of June 16, 2012. He identified George's black Suburban driving through the parking lot at 3:08 am after the group had returned from downtown. R. 208, l. 25 – 209, l. 15. The footage showed the employees "leaving out of Joe's" around 3:33 am and then the employees eventually leaving the parking lot after Marley pulled in and parked. R. 209, l. 16 – 210, l. 14. Julius identified himself walking through the parking lot at 3:44 am "to see if I could see how much people was in the truck." R. 211, ll. 1-15. Starting around 3:56 am, the shooting takes place. Julius claimed Petitioner was the shooter and that he was wearing a striped shirt, blue jeans, and white Nikes. R. 213, l. 6 – 214, l. 9. According to Julius, Rivers was wearing all black that night, including black Nikes.² R. 189, l. 12 – 190, l. 3.

Like Julius, Rivers, Rayshawn, and George also viewed the surveillance footage and claimed Petitioner was the shooter. R. 279, l. 15 – 284, l. 13; R. 335, l. 12 – 336, l. 16; R. 467, l. 24 – 469, l. 5.

² As noted above, Marley told Officer Deal that the shooter was wearing all black. R. 119, l. 9 – 121, l. 6.

On cross-examination, Julius admitted when he first spoke to police in June 2012, while the investigation was still in its early stages, he told them they should look at Bryan Rivers because he wears all black and “he and his associates were doing robberies.” R. 217, ll. 14-22; R. 219, ll. 8-25. Rivers has an extensive record, including assault with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and numerous drug offenses. He went to prison in 2011 for selling drugs and was released on June 1, 2012, only two weeks before the murder. R. 246, l. 24 – 247, l. 1; R. 248, ll. 2-22.

On the morning of his arrest, Petitioner was interviewed by law enforcement. The first interview began around 9:15 am and ended around 3:00 pm with a few breaks in between. During this first interview, Petitioner did not admit any involvement in the shooting of Marley Lion. However, he did admit to selling the firearm with an obliterated serial number to an informant after he was shown still photographs of him selling the weapon. R. 744, l. 19 – 755, l. 17. Petitioner was interviewed again later that night around 8:00 pm. During this interview, Petitioner told law enforcement that he, Julius, and Rivers “went up to rob [the Famous] Joe’s employees, not the business, but the employees, as they were closing up,” but as the employees came out, Marley Lion pulled into the parking lot “so they decided to rob Marley.” Petitioner “identified Julius Brown as the person walking across in front of . . . Marley Lion’s vehicle, and he said that Bryan Rivers had the firearm and went up to the vehicle and shot into the vehicle.” R. 756, l. 23 – 759, l. 1.

The jury convicted Petitioner of murder, attempted armed robbery, and the related weapons offense. R. 859, l. 23 – 860, l. 17. He was sentenced to life without parole. R. 865, ll. 2-15.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's refusal to allow Petitioner to cross-examine witnesses about an armed robbery and shooting that occurred approximately two weeks before the murder, where it was undisputed that Bryan Rivers was the shooter in the prior robbery and that the same firearm was used in both cases, since this prevented Petitioner from fully presenting his defense at trial, namely that Rivers was the shooter who killed the decedent, Marley Lion, and that Petitioner was merely present at the scene, in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE, the rule on third party guilt, and Petitioner's due process right to present a complete defense.

Motion

The solicitor argued pretrial:

The Defense we anticipated . . . would attempt to argue that the Chopper shooting³ two weeks prior [to the murder of Marley Lion] should come in because the same gun was used in the Chopper shooting as was used to kill Marley Lion. I think that that argument is significantly undercut, because just that very night, an hour or so before Marley was shot, Bryan Rivers used that gun, the murder weapon, to do another robbery downtown. He was involved in that robbery with Ryan Deleston [Petitioner] and with Julius Brown and with George Brown. But if there is a need to show that someone else had, in fact, used that weapon, they're going to have an armed robbery that occurred about one hour before the shooting.

To stretch back two weeks prior, to boot strap that in to try to show that because two weeks prior Rivers shot someone in the leg, that he must have shot and killed Marley Lion, I think, is a stretch.

R. 4, ll. 7-25.

³ Leroy Townsend is a drug dealer also known as "Chopper." It was undisputed at trial that Bryan Rivers shot Townsend in the leg during an armed robbery on June 1, 2012, approximately two weeks before Marley Lion was shot and killed. Petitioner, Julius Brown, Rayshawn Milligan, and George Brown were also allegedly involved in this armed robbery. The same gun Rivers used to shoot Townsend was also used to shoot and kill Marley. See R. 125, l. 6 – 131, l. 2.

Referencing Rule 404(b), SCRE, the solicitor further argued, “In more ways than not, the shooting of Chopper is just not the same thing.” She stressed several differences she perceived between the two incidents including (1) “Chopper” was someone who was known by Rivers and the other codefendants and the men had set out to rob him, whereas “Marley Lion just happened to be in the wrong place at the wrong time” and was not the “intended target” and (2) George Brown drove the men to the “Chopper shooting” while the men walked to Famous Joe’s. R. 5, ll. 1-20.

Additionally, the solicitor argued that under Rule 403, SCRE, “putting in the evidence that Bryan Rivers shot someone else is more prejudicial than it is probative. It’s not probative, because it’s nothing like the shooting of Marley Lion.” R. 5, l. 21 – 6, l. 1.

The defense argued that “this doesn’t reach the Lyle analysis because its evidence of third-party guilt.” Counsel argued “the Chopper shooting” was “evidence that somebody else used this weapon in the very same manner that it was used in the Marley Lion shooting, and that this evidence shows that somebody else was the shooter in the Marley Lion murder.” Counsel maintained, “That’s exactly what third-party guilt evidence is . . . there for, is to allow Mr. Deleston [Petitioner] to present a defense that he, in fact, did not do this, and that somebody else was the trigger man. And we think that this other robbery is very relevant.” R. 6, ll. 8-20.

The defense further argued that presenting evidence of the “Chopper shooting” does not prejudice the state and certainly does not “prejudice Mr. Rivers in any way. He’s already pled [guilty] to charges related to this.” R. 6, ll. 21-25. Counsel maintained that the evidence was “probative that somebody else committed this murder. That is the most probative thing that it could possibly stand for. It does not prejudice anybody, and it is probative. It is probative of Mr. Deleston’s [Petitioner’s] innocence and [shows] a third party is guilty.” R. 13, ll. 1-6.

Additionally, the defense argued that “this is really evidence that should be allowed under just a due process of allowing Mr. Deleston [Petitioner] to present a full defense and saying, I’m not the shooter this is the shooter. . . . [Bryan Rivers] puts himself there, and essentially says, Well, Ryan [Petitioner] did it. I didn’t do it. So it’s not that we’re just casting mere suspicion on him. He [Rivers] puts himself there.” Counsel continued, “And to not allow that evidence, they’re [the state is] essentially saying that the Defense can’t put up a defense, if we’re not allowed to bring in evidence that somebody else was the shooter. That is our defense, is that Bryan Rivers was the shooter, and they’re trying to preclude us from saying that.” R. 9, l. 14 – 10, l. 1. Defense counsel reasoned that the testimony regarding the “Chopper shooting” is “relevant to the fact [that] it makes it more likely that he [Bryan Rivers] was the individual with the gun. He was in the first armed robbery [of Leroy Townsend]. He was in the second armed robbery [of the couple downtown]. And then the third armed robbery [of Marley Lion], he says, Well, I didn’t have the gun. And that’s just rather convenient in this case.” R. 10, ll. 5-11.

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