RECEIVED  
FEB 15 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001103  
Opinion No. 2016-UP-055, filed February 10, 2016  
12-GS-10-06361, 6362,6363, 6364

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RYAN P. DELESTON,

Petitioner

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758

South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON

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

## ARGUMENTS WHY THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED

I. **The Court of Appeals did not misapprehend the law or facts. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in initially denying the Petitioner the right to cross-examine accomplices Bryan Rivers and Julius Brown concerning the fact that Bryan Rivers was the shooter in an armed robbery two weeks prior with the Petitioner being involved where the asserted purpose was to suggest that Rivers was the triggerperson in the death of Marley Lion and that Petitioner was merely present.**

1. **Any alleged error in the earlier exclusion of evidence of Rivers being the triggerperson in shooting of Leroy "Chopper" Townsend two weeks prior during the cross-examinations of Rivers and Julius Brown was not reversible error where evidence that Rivers shot Townsend was subsequently introduced through the Petitioner's admitted statement and specifically commented upon by the Solicitor in her closing statement to the jury.**

2. **Any error in its exclusion of the potential cross-examination was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where similar evidence was presented that Rivers had possessed the weapon in a robbery on the day of the crime and had possessed and presented a weapon earlier the same day. In addition, evidence of Petitioner's guilt was overwhelming, in light of the accomplice liability theory and his own statement.**

The Petitioner contends the appeal should be granted because he was allegedly deprived of his constitutional right to present a defense. He asserts the trial court precluded the presentation of evidence during the cross-examination of accomplices Bryan Rivers and Julius Brown that two weeks prior to the murder of Marley Lion, Rivers and not Petitioner was the actual triggerperson in a separate shooting of Leroy "Chopper" Townsend with the same weapon that shot Lion. Deleston contends that the evidence was admissible under S.C. Rule of Evidence 404(b), as evidence of "third party guilt" under the precedent of State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941), and as his constitutional right to present a meaningful defense under Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006). The Petitioner contends that this evidence of

the other crime was relevant to his defense because he claimed that Rivers was the triggerperson in Lion's death and that the excluded evidence would support that he was merely present at Lion's death, even though he was also present at the Townsend shooting.

In denying relief, the trial judge rejected the proffer under Rule 404(b), South Carolina Rules of Evidence, concluding that there was not a close degree of similarity between the crimes and therefore did not demonstrate a common scheme or plan to establish Rivers as the shooter of Lion. The trial court further rejected the claim that there was a due process violation.

The Petitioner ignores the important salient fact that defeats any potential entitlement to relief. After the testimony of Rivers and Brown, Solicitor Wilson revised her prosecution strategy<sup>2</sup> prior to the conclusion of the state's case and introduced similar of Thompson shooting to the jury through the introduction of a partially self-serving statement of Ryan Deleston, without objection. This statement included information about Rivers shooting Townsend earlier

---

<sup>2</sup> At the outset of the opening argument, Solicitor Wilson stated, although the State would show "that it was Deleston that pulled that trigger" that night (R.p. 42, ll. 1-4, Tr.p. 238, ll. 1-4), it was relying on the principle of the hand of one is the hand of all" liability and that "when we prove to you that Julius, 'Little B' [Rivers] and Ryan Deleston were acting together, who pulled the trigger will not be of importance to you." R.p. 42-43, Tr.p. 238-239. Importantly, throughout the opening statement by Solicitor Wilson, no mention is made of her intent to introduce the taped statements of Deleston of July 30, 2012. R.p. 41-51, Tr.p. 237-247. No mention is made of the Petitioner's statement.

However, counsel Pennington does present his defense theory that Bryan Rivers "used the weapon at 2:45 am, one hour before this murder downtown on Rutledge Avenue, to rob that couple that you heard about downtown. And at 4:07 am, he used it again to murder Marley Lion." R.p. 57, ll. 16-20. Also R.p. 59. Tr.p. 253, ll. 16-20. Also Tr.p. 255. ("It is whether or not the State has truly removed all reasonable doubt to show that ---in this instance, that Ryan Deleston would have seen the crazy, irrational act of Bryan Rivers coming."). Counsel Pennington made no mention of Deleston's statement in his opening either. During the testimony of Detective Williams of the Charleston Police Department, the State introduced evidence that Deleston in the evening statement had indicated, among other things that Bryan Rivers had the firearm and went up to the vehicle and shot into the (Lion's) vehicle. R.p. 758, ll. 7-15, Tr.p. 1012, ll. 7-15.

with the same murder weapon. A new trial is inappropriate where no reversible error occurred.

The summary order by the Court of Appeals suggests in its citations that the Court of Appeals opined that the evidence of the other criminal act by Rivers was not relevant because it was not sufficiently similar to be admissible and lacked a sufficient degree of similarity, citing State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 748 S.E.2d 194 (2013). Respondent submit that the conclusion is correct, but there are also additional reasons why a new trial would not be warranted.

**A. The Admission of Separate Evidence of the Earlier Shooting of Chopper Townsend by Rivers with the Murder Weapon through the Petitioner's Own Statement (State Exhibit 30) and the Solicitor's Subsequent Comment Concerning the Evidence of the Shooting in Closing Argument Renders the Prior Limitation on Cross-examination Harmless Error.**

Any exclusion of the proffered evidence through cross-examination of Rivers and Brown that Rivers was the triggerperson in the shooting and attempted armed robbery of "Chopper" Townsend was harmless error because similar evidence was actually admitted within the admitted statement of the Petitioner in the State's case. This evidence from the Deleston statement (State Exhibit 30) was directly commented upon by the Solicitor in her closing statement to the jury. For this initial reason, the complaint about the earlier exclusion of similar evidence issue must be dismissed where the similar information was presented to the jury later.

A review of the Brief of Petitioner does not address nor mention the fact that of the actual introduction of the similar Chopper shooting evidence in the statement of Deleston that Rivers shot Townsend in the earlier incident that Deleston also participated. The Brief of Petitioner also does not address the fact that it is implicit that the obvious change in the prosecution strategy during its case in chief that a recall of the previous witnesses would have been within the discretion of the trial court under SCRE Rule 611(d) and State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508,

316 S.E.2d 395 (1984).<sup>3</sup> However, it is equally conspicuous that the defense did not make this specific request at trial after the evidence was introduced through their client's statement based upon the state opening the door under Rule 611, instead merely restating the motion. R.p. 769-770. [As noted below, the evolving defense strategy in not recalling Rivers or Brown may be evident because it would have only further emphasized Deleston's involvement and knowledge of the earlier violent crime and the foreseeability of the Lion shooting potential, where Rivers's earlier weapon possession was now before the jury based upon Deleston's own interpretation of that incident through his statement.]. It may be suggested that the defense abandoned the request to cross-examine Rivers and Brown about the Chopper incident after the evidence was presented which opened the door to the glaring evidence within the statement. No specific defense objection or request was made concerning the earlier denial throughout the remainder of the trial.

---

<sup>3</sup> In Stroman, the Court stated:

“Where one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, **even though [the] latter evidence would be incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.**” State v. Albert, 277 S.E.2d 439, 441 (N.C. 1981); State v. Miller, 61 N.C.App. 1, 300 S.E.2d 431 (1983). See also U.S. v. Allain, 671 F.2d 248 (7th Cir. 1982); U.S. v. Barrentine, 591 F.2d 1069 (5th Cir.), cert. den., 444 U.S. 990, 100 S.Ct. 521, 62 L.Ed.2d 419 (1979). Additionally, a party “cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.” State v. Worthy, 239 S.C. 449, 465, 123 S.E.2d 835 (1962). Once appellant's counsel initiated the questioning concerning McDowell's prior acts of theft, the State was free to question him as to the details of any prior crime involving the stealing of money. The scope of redirect rests in the discretion of the trial court. State v. Tyner, 273 S.C. 646, 258 S.E.2d 559 (1979). We hold the trial court properly admitted McDowell's testimony.

State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984) (emphasis added). See also State v. Young, 364 S.C. 476, 613 S.E.2d 386 (Ct. App. 2005) (summarizing cases of “opening the door”).

### **1. Deleston's Admitted Statement About the "Chopper" Shooting by Rivers**

Prior to the conclusion of the state's case in chief, the State introduced **State Exhibit 30**, a videotape of the July 30, 2012 evening session of the interrogation of Ryan Deleston. At the **9:33:40** portion of Exhibit 30, Deleston brings up about another robbery they did, but he claimed he did not participate in where they shot a drug dealer named Chopper. At the 9:45 PM portion of the tape, it reflects that Detective Osborne asks Deleston what he knows about the Chopper shooting. Deleston then tells Detective Osborne that Chopper was a big drug dealer and that he had stopped selling to them so they got someone else to call him. According to Deleston, Julius Brown, Bryan Rivers, George Brown and Valentino "Tino" Heyward jumped in the truck to go do the "lick." Deleston stated that they returned with money, dope and Chopper's cell phone. Deleston stated he heard that Rivers (Lil B) had shot Chopper. He said they had two guns with them that they put out beside the house. Deleston says that Tino and Lil B actually did lick while Julius and George stayed in car. Deleston says one of the guns was the murder weapon and other was a 45. Deleston stated that they got about 5 grand and 2 cookies in robbery. R.p. 766- p. 767, Tr.p. 1036- p. 1037. State Exhibit 30 (9:30 – 9:50).

### **2. Solicitor Wilson's Closing Comments Concerning Rivers Shooting of Chopper.**

Solicitor Wilson commented upon the "Chopper" shooting in her closing argument. In particular, Solicitor Wilson stated:

Foreseeability? Y'all might not have caught this, or -- or thought about why it was so important to this case when you were watching those three and four hours of the Defendant's statement. Towards the end, just this morning, when Detective Osborne comes in, he tells Deleston, I want to talk to you about some other things, some other crimes. And he starts going through and asking him about other instances. **And some of them Deleston said, I don't know anything about. You might remember the one he did know something about or he claimed to. The shooting of a guy named Chopper. Remember that? He says**

**Bryan Rivers shot a guy named Chopper with the murder weapon. Okay.**

**So Bryan Rivers is now alleged to have shot someone with a murder weapon. He knows about it, and he goes to an armed robbery with it? He buys into robbing Joe's, he helps out in attempting to rob Marley, and he's going to say it's an accident, it wasn't foreseeable?**

R.p. 781, l. 3-21, Tr.p. 1064, l. 3-21. (emphasis added). See State Exhibits 29 and 30. (Statements of Deleston); R.p. 766-767, Tr.p. 1036-1037.

### **3. Prejudice not shown when similar evidence is admitted.**

In order for this Court to reverse a case based on the alleged erroneous admission or exclusion of evidence, prejudice must be shown. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 (1990). "Whether error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it 'could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.'" State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985), citing State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 93, 180 S.E.2d 888, 890 (1971). See State v. Joseph, 328 S.C. 352, 371, 491 S.E.2d 275, 284 (Ct.App.1997) (where evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence admitted at trial, the exclusion of such evidence is not an abuse of discretion); State v. Golson, 349 S.C. 421, 429, 562 S.E.2d 663, 668 (S.C.App. 2002) (same); State v. Ferguson, 300 S.C. 408, 411, 388 S.E.2d 642, 644 (1990) (exclusion of victim's prior inconsistent statement as substantive evidence was harmless error when other evidence was cumulative of statement).

Because the admitted State Exhibit 30 (Petitioner's statement) included his assertion that Rivers shot Chopper with the murder weapon - the information he sought to develop through the cross-examination of Rivers and Brown - any exclusion or limitation on the cross-examination is harmless. Its earlier exclusion was not prejudicial because it would be cumulative to other

evidence that was ultimately admitted. The earlier limitation on cross-examination does not warrant a new trial.<sup>4</sup>

**B. The armed robbery and shooting of Leroy “Chopper” Townsend and the Marley Lion attempted robbery and shooting are not sufficiently similar to prove a common scheme or plan under SCRE Rule 404(b) that only Bryan Rivers possessed a weapon to the exclusion of other’s possession.**

Because of the evident dissimilarities and limited probative value, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding questioning of either Bryan Rivers or Julius Brown on this issue. Deleston contends that the trial judge erred that in excluding the evidence of the June 1, 2012 shooting of Leroy Chopper Townsend by Bryan Rivers. He contends it satisfies the requirement under rule 404(b) because there was a close degree of similarity between the attempted armed robbery of Townsend and the murder of Marley Lion. He draws this similarity from the fact that both offenses involved the same people (Bryan Rivers, Julius Brown, George Brown, Rayshawn, Milligan, and Petitioner) and were planned by Julius Brown. He asserts that both robberies occurred near the Ardmore neighborhood within about a mile of each other and

---

<sup>4</sup> It is unclear why the defense did not specifically seek to have Rivers or Julius Brown recalled to further inquire as to the “Chopper” shooting specifically based on the admission of the Petitioner’s statements. Perhaps defense counsel, aware of the fact that the admission of this part of Petitioner’s statement likely “opened the door” to allow the further development of the evidence within the State’s case and would allow witnesses to be recalled within the State’s case or presented within the defense case in chief, the defense did not want to lose the right to make the final statement in closing argument. When a defendant in a criminal case offers no evidence, he is entitled to the final closing argument to the jury. State v. Pinkard, 365 S.C. 541, 543, 617 S.E.2d 397, 398 (Ct.App.2005); State v. Rodgers, 269 S.C. 22, 24, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977) (citing State v. Gellis, 158 S.C. 471, 487, 155 S.E. 849, 855 (1930)). However, rather than seek to re-open the state’s case based upon the statement, immediately after State Exhibit 30 is played and the state closes its case, counsel Pennington merely renewed his motion about the inability to cross-examine witnesses in relation to the prior shooting by Bryan Rivers of Chopper without even mentioning or arguing that the similar evidence was presented in Petitioner’s statement. R.p. 768, l. 24- p. 769, l. 6, Tr.p. 1038, l. 24- p. 1039, l. 6. Judge Harrington denied the motion. R.p. 770, l. 1-25, Tr.p. 1040, l. 1-25. At that point the defense rested its case without further presentation of any witnesses.

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